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1.0  Executive Summary

This report presents the aims and results of an archaeological assessment commissioned by the North of Scotland Water Authority (NoSWA) and undertaken in advance of the proposed improvements to Strontian’s water supply, Lochaber. 

The archaeological assessment comprised a desk-top study and a walkover survey. A number of unrecorded archaeological remains, including enclosure dykes and lazy beds, plus unroofed buildings which were part of the crofting settlement of Scotstown were identified. All the features are apparently of post-medieval date. 

2.0  Introduction

The archaeological assessment was commissioned by the North of Scotland Water Authority (NoSWA) in advance of the proposed improvements to Strontian’s water supply. The intended developments involve the construction of an Intake Works, a Treatment Works and a Clear Water Tank, plus the insertion of linking water mains, between Scotstown and Anaheilt, near Strontian, Lochaber (fig. 1). The aim of the archaeological assessment was to establish the presence or absence of already recorded archaeological sites in the area, to prospect for further undiscovered archaeological remains and to propose appropriate mitigation measures if archaeological remains were identified within the proposal area.

The area involved in the scheme to improve Strontian’s water supply lies to the north of Strontian itself. The site of the Intake Works (NM 8235 6295) and the c. 300m long stretch of water main between A and B (fig. 2), lie between the road leading from Anaheilt to the Ariundle Nature Reserve and the Strontian River. This area of pasture slopes gently down towards the river and, although it has been drained and enclosed, is still very marshy. Large ponds for angling have been created just to the east of the proposed site for the Intake Works. Above the road, the water main crosses undulating ground, in use as rough pasture, to the location of the Treatment Works at NM 8218 6328. From here, the water main continues for another c. 250m on a north-west route across very hummocky ground, again rough pasture, before it dips down to cross the Allt na Meinne at NM 8205 6350. On the other side of the burn, between D and P, the water main hugs the east side of the road between Strontian and Polloch, through the crofting township of Scotstown, for c. 1200m. At P, the water main leaves the road to cross an area of unenclosed moorland to the site of the Clear Water Tank at NM 8220 6456. There is also a short extension of the water main which runs more or less parallel to the ‘high road’, the old track linking Ardnastang with the Polloch road, before rejoining the main pipe at the junction of the two roads. 

3.0  Aims and Objectives

This survey was intended to identify the presence or absence of archaeological features in the proposal area and assess the likely impact of the development upon them.

The objectives of this study were as follows:


to collate any known archaeological information on the proposal area

to identify any previously unknown archaeological sites through inspection of the 
aerial photographic record and the available cartographic evidence 


to evaluate the archaeological significance of the area through field inspection


to assess the potential impact of development in this area and to suggest appropriate 
mitigation measures where these might be necessary

4.0  Methodology

An initial desk-top study involved consultation of the National Monument Record for Scotland (NMRS), held by The Royal Commission on Ancient and Historical Monuments of Scotland (RCAHMS) in Edinburgh, and the local Sites and Monument Record (SMR) for Highland, held by the Highland Council Archaeology Unit in Inverness. All the cartographic sources held by the Highland Council Archive in Inverness and the National Map Library in Edinburgh were examined. Particular emphasis was placed on the First and Second Edition Ordnance Survey maps (Appendix 8.1.1; fig. 3). The vertical stereo aerial photographic record, also held by the RCAHMS, was examined for any sites of potential archaeological interest which might be visible as soil or vegetation marks. Four series of photographs, taken in 1946, 1968 and 1998, were available for consultation (Appendix 8.1.2). Finally, Mr George Fox of the Sunart Archives and Mr. Jim Kirby of the Sunart Oakwoods Research Group, both of whom live locally, provided freely of their detailed local knowledge of the area.

A walkover survey was conducted of the areas selected for the Intake and Treatment Works and for the Water Tank, as well as the entire route of the water mains. Each of the sites identified was described, photographed and plotted on the 1:10000 map (fig. 2).  

5.0  Results

5.1  Desk Assessment 

Consultation of the both the SMR and NMRS revealed only one known archaeological site within the proposal area. Just within its northern boundary, there is a cast iron mile post (NMRS no. NM86SW3; SMR No. NM86SW0011; NM 8233 6455), although no information, beyond its location, is given and it was not found during the walkover survey. It is possible that it was associated with the building of the road to the lead mines or to Polloch. The only other recorded site on the west side of the Allt na Meinne is the Parliamentary manse of Strontian, built to a design of Thomas Telford in 1827. It lies at the southern end of Scotstown and is a listed building (NMRS no. NM86SW5; SMR no. NM86SW0018; NM 8198 6319). Previous fieldwork by Jim Kirby (formerly of the Forestry Commission) and ongoing as part of the Sunart Oakwoods Research Project has identified a considerable number of archaeological sites within the area of the Ariundle Nature Reserve, to the east of the proposal area. The majority are associated with the exploitation of the oakwoods in the post-medieval period and consist of enclosures, recessed platforms and evidence for charcoal burning (Jim Kirby, pers. comm.). Building footings and cultivation remains have also been identified, as have a couple of possible prehistoric hut-circles.

The proposal area is covered by two sets of vertical air photographs taken by the RAF immediately after World War II. Both series are at a scale of 1:9960 and, although the quality of the prints is poor, they provide a useful picture of Scotstown at this date. They suggest the presence of far fewer trees and that many of the crofts were still being worked. For example, what appears to be three amorphous enclosures on the modern 1:10000 map at NM 8222 6418 (just outside the proposal area) are revealed as two roofed buildings and an enclosure, surrounded by an area of cleared ground, dotted with clearance cairns, which stretches up to the road. At the time of the site visit, the entire area was under rank vegetation and no features were apparent. The boundaries of the township are very clear, reflecting the field walls shown on the Ordnance Survey map and highlighting the fact that the Clear Water Tank and the stretch of water main between P and Q lie on open hill ground. A series of photographs taken in 1968 also suggest that the ground surrounding the crofts was still being grazed more intensively than it is today. There is very little scrub along the banks of the burn. Unfortunately, on all the photographs, the large oaks and pines between B and D cast large shadows across this area, obscuring any features which might be present. The final set of photographs, taken in 1988, are at too small a scale (1:24000) to do anything more than confirm that no major changes have taken place. The details of individual sites, where they fall within the proposal area, have been described in the site gazetteer (see below).

The earliest map on a suitable scale and with a level of detail to be useful is Bald's estate plan of 1804 (RHP7211, copy in possession of George Fox). This shows both the locations of buildings and of areas of cultivation. It confirms that, with the exception of the stretch of ground known as New York, lying in the roughly triangular area formed by the confluence of the Strontian river and the Allt na Meinne (just outside the boundaries of the development) and shown as under cultivation at this period, there is little evidence for any activity on the east side of the Allt na Meinne. In contrast, on the other side of the burn, buildings and patches of cultivation follow the line of the road from Strontian to Polloch much as they do today. 

New York is also shown at a slightly earlier date on Roy’s map, although here it is located some distance to the east of the (unnamed) Allt na Meinne. It originated as a settlement for the English miners working at the lead mines in the mid eighteenth century. The mines however had declined by the end of that century and the author of the New Statistical Account implies that, by the time he was writing, the village had been already obliterated by ploughing (Clerk 1838, 141). It is possible, therefore, that it was much more extensive than is indicated by Bald’s plan. Roy also names Aryhailt (Anaheilt), Tingovualligin and Aryandle (Ariundle). Tingovualligin, lying to the north of Anaheilt, seems to be Scotstown and is depicted spanning both sides of the Allt na Meinne. Ariundle is, like New York, shown a considerable distance from the east bank of the Allt na Meinne. Dorret’s map of Scotland, also compiled in the middle of the eighteenth century, is similar, but here New York is placed immediately to the north of Anaylt on the west side of the river, with a gap before Aruindale. No names are given for the east side at all. At the beginning of the nineteenth century, Annault and Scotchtown are shown on the west side of the river, with Ariundel and York on the opposite side.  

By the time the Ordnance Survey compiled their maps in the latter half of the nineteenth century, the present form of the crofting townships of Scotstown and Anaheilt are very apparent. The pattern of field walls is also recognisable; only one short stretch of dyke identified during the walkover survey and present on the current edition of the map, is not visible on either the First or Second Edition map (Site 2). Although it is difficult to be precise, the layout of both buildings and crofts also seems to be remarkably consistent with those visible today, even if the buildings have been improved and some are no longer in occupation. At first sight, most of the boundaries depicted seem to be associated with the layout of the crofts; however, there are a number of more curvilinear walls, which may reflect an earlier, albeit not necessarily medieval, pattern. As with the aerial photographs, details of individual sites shown on the maps are described in the site gazetteer (see below).

5.2  Field Inspection
The proposal area was examined on the 16th August, 2000, on a cloudy day, with frequent heavy rain showers. The height of the vegetation, particularly along the road edges, the presence of dense scrub woodland between D and E (fig. 1) and, to a slightly lesser degree, the heather and bracken covering the rough pasture between B and D, hampered the visibility of any archaeological features in these areas. In spite of this, it was felt that a fairly accurate picture of the topography and any potential surface remains was obtained.

All the archaeological sites identified are listed and described below. Each has been plotted on fig. 2.

Site 1
Field dyke/ditch 

NM 8227 6319 - NM 8238 6293

The post and wire fence running between NM 8227 6319 and NM 8238 6293 (A and B) runs along the line of an earlier stone dyke, immediately to the west of the straightened course of a burn. At either end, there are wrought iron corner posts for an earlier fence. At the south end, the wall forms one side (west) of the burn’s channel. It is very well constructed from unshaped rounded boulders, placed so that exposed face is smooth (Plate 1). At this point, the stonework stands to c. 1.5m high. Further upslope (north), the channel is cut into peat and the wall appears as a slight earth and stone bank on its west side. Where the most southerly of the drains shown on the modern map enters the burn, a timber plank appears to act as a sluice.

A field boundary is shown in this position on the First Edition map (1871). It would seem to be a continuation of the boundary on the other side of the road, which is also shown on the First Edition (Site 2). 

Site 2
Enclosure banks

NM 8225 6320 - NM 8211 6357

A substantial enclosure bank continues up the hill in a north-westerly direction from the road, at NM 8225 6320, to meet the Allt na Meinne at NM 8211 6357. Immediately above the road, the boundary is apparent as a substantial stony bank . Where it crosses marshy ground, it is much slighter and appears to be composed of earth. As it reaches more steeply rising ground, it becomes a massive stone-faced bank, c. 1.5m high, very similar in character to the best preserved section of Site 1 (Plate 4). The easterly, moss-covered face is built up from closely-fitting, rounded boulders, while earth seems to have been banked up against the west side of the wall (Plate 3). There is the suggestion of a ditch on the east side, perhaps the result of the removal of the earth to form the bank.   

Just above the crest of the hill, before the ground becomes particularly hummocky, at NM 8216 6341, a short extension heads west, then south-west, from the main dyke, to NM 8210 6338. There is small gap between the two dykes, which parallels the gap in the main dyke at this point. This short stretch of dyke is on a similar scale to the longer one and appears to be part of the same enclosure system.   

The long stretch of wall is present on the First Edition (1871) map. The short extension is the only one of the field boundaries in this area which does not appear on the earlier maps, although it is present on the recent 1:10000 map (1990). 

Site 3
Wrought iron fence posts 
NM 8215 6323, NM 8216 6326 and NM 8214 6335

Where the line of the current post and wire fence changes direction at NM 8215 6323, NM 8216 6326 and NM 8214 6335, the presence of locally made, wrought iron fence posts attests to the possibility of an earlier fence. This is confirmed by its presence on the First Edition map (1871). It may be of even earlier date since it appears to enclose the cluster of buildings known today as Ariundle. 

Site 4
Lazy beds


NM 8220 6320

A small area of possible lazy beds, c. 20m by 20m, is located in the area of gently sloping, but very wet ground, to the north of the Nature Reserve road. Each lazy bed would seem to be about 4m broad. The ground is very rough in this area and it is possible that they could simply be drains or old peat cuttings. Certainly, the ground is depicted as rough grazing on the earlier OS maps (1871 and 1900). 

Site 5
Knoll and ?standing stone
NM 8215 6332

A natural, rounded knoll, above the line of the modern post and wire fence, seems to have been affected by human activity at some point in its history. A small (40cm high), but very distinctly shaped, rounded boulder seems to have been set upright on its crest (Plate 2). Around it, the top of the knoll has been clearly hollowed out.  

Site 6 
Iron fence


NM 8206 6350

An old deer fence, constructed entirely from iron posts and wire, following the eastern bank of the Allt na Meinne and perhaps originally forming the western boundary of the settlements of Ariundle or New York. It crosses the line of the proposed water main at D, NM 8206 6350. The line of this fence is shown on the OS First Edition (1871), and all later, maps. 

Site 7
?Rig-and-furrow

?NM 8212 6366

On the aerial photographs from 1968, when this area seems to have been far more heavily grazed than it is today, a series of what appear to be short rigs, running almost east-west down the slope, are apparent. Their position would place them in the immediate vicinity of the modern house of Blar Dubh and it is likely that they have been affected, or even completely destroyed, during its construction. There are further suggestions of rig to the north of the barn (Site 8); although these lie much closer to the Allt na Meinne, it is probable that they - and those closer to the road - represent the last remnants of a once densely worked field pattern, now obscured by scrub woodland.   

Site 8
Building cluster 

NM 8213 6373 

Just to the north of Blar Dubh, is a roofed, stone-built dwelling house, now unoccupied (Plate 5). It is a typical croft house and was probably built towards the end of the nineteenth century. The house is fronted by a garden, which on the aerial photographs from 1968 is shown as sub-divided and in use. Behind the house, and connected to it by a long thin enclosure, is a stone built barn, with a corrugated iron roof (Plate 5). 

On the First Edition map, the house is depicted as unroofed, although the barn and another roofed building of similar size just to the north appear to have been in use. In contrast, the house is the only roofed building of the three on the Second Edition map (1900). No traces of the most northerly building were located during the walkover survey.

Site 9
Turf bank


NM 8216 6390

A substantial, predominantly earthen, bank, running south-eastwards from the road to the Allt na Meinne. It is now somewhat obscured by bracken, but seems to measure c. 1m high by c. 1.5m broad. 

On the modern map, this bank is apparent running down to the burn and then turning south along its west bank, as if enclosing the croft lands associated with the buildings described under Site 8. On the earlier OS maps (1871 and 1900), it is apparent as a short, straight length of walling running from the road to the burn. 

Site 10
Field wall


?NM 8216 6396

A field wall or bank, visible on the earlier OS maps (1871 and 1900), but not shown on the modern map, although it is apparent on the aerial photographs from 1946. It was not recognised on the ground during the walkover survey. The boundary ran from the road to the Allt na Meinne and is a continuation of a still visible fence line on the west side of the road. It is probable, that - like Sites 9 and 11 - it formed part of the boundaries of one of the crofts.  

Site 11
Field walls


?NM 8217 6406 - NM 8220 6417

Like Site 9, a series of walls and enclosures running down from the road to the Allt na Meinne are present on the earlier OS maps (1871 and 1900) and are visible on the aerial photographs from 1968, but are not identifiable on the ground. Again they appear to be continuations of boundaries visible on the other (west) side of the road and must be associated with the sub-divisions of the croft lands. The vegetation is particularly rank in this area and it is probable that some or all of these boundaries are still present. 

Site 12
Well



NM 8211 6417

On the First Edition map (1871), on the opposite side of the road to Ness Cottages and just to the south of the track leading up to them, is a well. Although the track is not shown on the Second Edition map (1900), the well is still there. It is possible that it served both this group of cottages and those which are now abandoned on the east side of the burn. Due to the height of the summer vegetation, the well - if it still exists - was not located.

Site 13
Building cluster


NM 8220 6430

A dispersed cluster of four buildings (fig. 4), some surviving only as footings, others still roofed and in use. The buildings lie on gently sloping ground between the tarmaced road to Polloch and the ‘high road’, the track from Ardnastang. There is an associated kailyard and length of enclosure wall. The height of the vegetation and the amount of scrub woodland surrounding the buildings ensured examining them in detail was difficult. The proposed route of the water main between R and N would bisect this cluster.

A 
A neatly constructed, boulder built byre, with the rounded corners typical of the Ardnamurchan area (Plate 7). The fabric comprises large rounded, granite boulders, held together by smaller snecking stones and lime mortar. The building has clearly been re-erected at some point in its history, as the concrete plinth it sits on is clearly visible at the south-west end. It has a corrugated iron roof and timber or corrugated iron gables. There is also a corrugated iron outshot at the north-east end. All the fittings of a byre remain inside. The building sits on a large, level platform, defined by a hawthorn hedge (now grown into trees) on its downslope side. Outside the hedge and running down the slope, is an impenetrable mass of bracken and bindweed, which makes the identification of any additional features impossible. 

The building is shown as roofed on both the First and Second Edition maps (1871 and 1900). 

B
A rectangular enclosure, c. 7m (NE-SW) x 5m (NW-SE), surrounded by a wall consisting of massive boulders. The level interior is raised c. 0.5m above the surrounding ground level, suggesting that this is a kailyard. It is partially covered in bracken and rowan and ash trees are growing out of all the walls. 

On the First Edition map (1871), the enclosure is shown as in use, with a roofed building forming its south-eastern side. The latter was not identified. On the Second Edition (1900), just the enclosure, although apparently not in use, is shown.  

C
The footings of a rectangular building, 5m (NW-SE) x 9m (NE-SW) externally, lying immediately to the south of the kailyard (Plate 8). It has been terraced into the slope to create a level interior. The footings, which stand to c. 0.5m high, have been considerably disturbed by the number of small trees growing through and around them. Some of these appear to be fruit trees and may date back to the period when the building was in use. The stones are also largely moss-covered and there is a certain amount of fairly modern rubbish, which makes features difficult to distinguish. Nonetheless, a doorway is apparent towards the northern end of the south-east wall. A possible dividing wall, separating off the northern third of the building, seems to run from its northern side. One of the stones forming the southern side of the entrance shows evidence of having been split using dynamite. In front of the structure, facing the road, is a boulder defined platform, running the entire length of the building. On the upslope side of the building, between it and the kailyard, is what appears to be drainage ditch. 

Unless there has been some confusion with the building attached to the kailyard noted on the First Edition (see above), this building is shown as unroofed on both of the earlier editions of the OS map (1871 and 1900) and is the only one in this cluster omitted from the current map (1990).    

D
A small, unroofed, drystone building, 4m (NE-SW) x 3m (NW-SE) with rounded corners. It has a central entrance on the downslope side. The walls still stand to c. 1m high at the corners, although the centre of the walls is much more dilapidated and the interior is filled with tumble. A felt-covered wooden roof, which may once have been associated, lies on the ground to one side. The much overgrown remnants of what appears to be a post and wire fenced rectangular enclosure stretches out to the south-west of the building. There is also a level platform in front (south-east) of the structure, edged with large stones. Again this is very overgrown and the details are hard to distinguish. 

This building does not appear to be depicted on any of the earlier OS maps (1871 and 1900), although it is present on the current edition of the map (1990).

E
A timber and corrugated iron garage, presumably sitting on the footprint of an earlier structure, since a roofed building is shown in this location on OS First (1871) and Second Edition (1900) maps. An unroofed, probably stone-built, structure is visible on the 1968 aerial photographs in this location.

F
A curving stretch of walling running across the slope below structures 4 and 5. At its south-west end, it appears to be the tumbled basal footings of a massive boulder built dyke. Below building 4, it becomes more pronounced, although much more overgrown with brambles. Here, it appears to be over 0.5m high and 1m wide. It also seems to have been partially constructed from turf. Although it peters out somewhat in front of building 4, there is the suggestion of a wall defining the north side of a possible trackway. The latter curves up from the road to cross the burn at a point just above structure 2, where the banks of the burn seem to have been levelled out and a rough ford created.    

Site 14 
Field wall


NM 8232 6433

A short stretch of field bank or wall, forming a continuation of a bank/ditch on the west side of the road, runs south-east from the road to the Allt na Meinne at NM 8232 6433. It is only visible on the photographs from 1968 and was not recognised on the ground. However, this area is now dense scrub.    

Site 15 
Building cluster


NM 8240 6448

On the earlier editions of the OS maps (1871 and 1900), a small cluster of three roofed buildings are depicted very close to the road in approximately this area. On the aerial photographs taken in 1968, one unroofed building, on a north west-south east alignment, is clearly visible in the same location. There is also the suggestion of an enclosure between it and the Allt na Meinne. Neither of these structures seem to be the east-west oriented corrugated iron shed which currently stands close to the burn. Although, on the present edition of the OS map (1990), a short length of track is shown leading to this building, much of this area has recently been built up into a large, level working/parking area. The three buildings on the early maps would have been situated in this location and there do seem to be traces of large boulder footings around a small knoll surmounted by a damaged rowan tree on the south side of the area. Just to the north of the shed is a ford across the Allt na Meinne.

Site 16
Mile post
NMRS no. NM86SW3 

NM 8233 6455

SMR No. NM86SW0011 


A cast iron mile post, recorded in the NMRS and SMR, but given no description. It is also noted on the current edition of the OS map (1990), but was not located on the ground.

Site 17 
Field wall


NM 8226 6454 - NM 8234 6456

Another massive stone-faced bank of very similar character to those encountered further down the hill (Sites 1 and 2), forms the boundary between Scotstown and the hill ground. It is of very similar construction and scale to the banks already described, and of similar quality (Plate 6). Post and wire fences of different dates define either side of the wall; the earlier of the two has cleft oak stakes forming the fence posts. The dyke appears to continue below the road to meet the Allt na Meinne, although only the lower courses of the wall survive. This bank is present on the First Edition map (1871), but - as it appears to be such an important boundary - could be of considerably earlier date.

6.0  Mitigation and Recommendations 

Where monitoring of any groundworks is suggested as the appropriate response to the presence of archaeological remains at a particular site, it is assumed that this would be undertaken by an appropriately qualified field archaeologist and that time and resources would be dedicated to the elucidation of any archaeological remains exposed during such works. 

Sites 1, 3, 6 

Although the wrought iron fence and fence posts probably date to around the turn of the twentieth century, their archaeological significance is minimal. Therefore, no archaeological mitigation is necessary.

Sites 1, 2, 17 

In the opinion of Jim Kirby, these dykes form part of a system of woodland enclosure which predates those enclosures associated with the agricultural improvements in this area in the latter part of the eighteenth century. Their scale and the quality of their construction certainly indicate that they may be of more historical and archaeological importance than simple field walls. The changes in construction visible as dyke 2 passes across different types of ground seem to be a feature of such boundaries (Jim Kirby, pers. comm.). If this is the case, any groundworks which impinge upon them should be subject to monitoring.

Sites 4, 5

These sites should not be affected by any groundworks associated with this project. However, in order to minimise the potential for damage to the archaeological resource outside the immediate area of the works, it may be necessary to mark exclusion zones around the recorded sites so that activity can be restricted to agreed access routes. 

Site 7

It is probable that this area of rig-and-furrow, which is only visible on the aerial photographs, has already been seriously affected during the building of the modern house at Blar Dubh. Therefore, no archaeological mitigation is necessary.

Sites 8, 13

It seems likely that any groundworks around these two building clusters will affect archaeologically significant deposits. If this is the case, any groundworks which impinge upon them should be subject to monitoring. 

Sites 9, 10, 11, 14

While not all of these field boundaries, the majority of which appear to be associated with the crofting community of Scotstown (although some could be earlier woodland enclosure dykes), were located on the ground during the walkover survey, this probably has more to do with the height of vegetation than actual absence. Although it is likely that any archaeological deposits in the immediate vicinity of the road have already been disturbed, any groundworks extending beyond this and which may impinge upon undisturbed deposits should be subject to monitoring. Again, in order to minimise the potential for damage to the archaeological resource outside the immediate area of the works, it may be necessary to mark exclusion zones around the recorded sites so that activity can be restricted to agreed access routes. 

Site 12

Again this well was not noted during the survey, partly because of the height of vegetation in this area. However, its closeness to the road suggests that it will be impinged upon by groundworks associated with the insertion of the new water main; if this is the case, any groundworks should be subject to monitoring. 

Site 16

This mile post could not be located during the survey. According to the current edition of the OS map, it appears to be on the other side of the road to the line of the water main and, therefore, assuming it still exists close to its original location, it should not be affected by any groundworks. 

Any other groundworks which are necessary in the construction work - test pits, site compounds and the like - should be sited so that they do not have a direct impact on the archaeological resource. Again they should be monitored by a suitably qualified field archaeologist in case sub-surface archaeological deposits have been disturbed and sufficient time and resources should be dedicated to the recording and analysis of any such deposits encountered.

It must be stressed that the recommendations noted here are intended for guidance only and attention is drawn to the fact that all decisions regarding appropriate mitigation strategies rest ultimately and entirely with the local planning authority.     
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Site 1  NM 8227 6319 – NM 8238 6293

South end of dyke from NE
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Site 1  NM 8227 6319 – NM 8238 6293

South end of dyke from SE 
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Site 3  NM 8215 6323, NM 8216 6326

Fence posts from NE

15 View of proposed site of Treatment Works from S

16 Site 5  NM 8215 6332



Knoll and ?standing stone from W

17 Site 5  NM 8215 6332



Knoll and ?standing stone from E

18 Site 2  NM 8225 6320 – NM 8211 6357

Enclosure dyke from SW

19 Site 2  NM 8225 6320 – NM 8211 6357

Enclosure dyke from SE

20 Site 2  NM 8225 6320 – NM 8211 6357

Enclosure dyke from NW

21 Site 4  NM 8220 6320 



Lazy beds from SE

22 Site 8  NM 8213 6373 



House and barn from SW

23 Site 8  NM 8213 6373 



Barn from SW


24 Site 8  NM 8213 6373 



House from NW

25 Wasted

26
Site 9
NM 8216 6390



Enclosure dyke from SW
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Site 15  NM 8240 6448 



Building foundations from SW
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Site 15  NM 8240 6448 



Building foundations from NW

29
Site 15  NM 8240 6448 



Site from N
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Site 17  NM 8226 6454 – NM 8234 6456 
Enclosure dyke from NE
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Site 13  NM 8220 6430



Byre A and hedge line from NW 
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Site 13  NM 8220 6430



Byre A from NW 
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Site 13  NM 8220 6430



Building C from NW 
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Building C from N
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Site 13  NM 8220 6430



Enclosure B from NE
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Site 13  NM 8220 6430



Building D from E
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Site 13  NM 8220 6430



Enclosure wall from W 
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AUTHORITY
1.     Background

This brief has been produced in response to the need for an archaeological evaluation

to be carried out prior to work beginning on site.   It is for a minimum standard of

work; a higher standard may be offered and accepted.

2.     Terms of Reference

This brief is for archaeological desk based assessment and walkover survey work

prior to works proposed by NoSWA, who are responsible for all tendering and

contractual arrangements.

Any reference to ‘archaeologist’ in this specification is to be taken to mean a qualified

and experienced practitioner acceptable to the Senior Archaeologist. This is to ensure

that work is carried out to professional standards.  The project should be carried out

by, or under the immediate direction of, a member of the Institute of Field

Archaeologists or an archaeologist of equivalent standing.

If this is for a road or water and sewerage proposal the area to be covered is the entire

wayleave except where otherwise indicated.

3.     Tendering

Tenders must be accompanied by a project design, statement and evidence of

competence, including the CV of the Project Director, and other staff where possible.

4.     Objectives

1.   To establish  the  presence  of  recorded  archaeological  remains,  and  the

likelihood of further as yet unrecorded archaeological remains.

2.  To propose arrangements for the safeguarding where possible and recording

where necessary of any archaeological features or finds identified.

3.  To ensure that the needs for archaeological conservation and recording are met

without causing any unnecessary delay or disturbance to the development  project.

5.     Method

1.   A desk based assessment of the site, to include consultation of at least;

The Highland Council Sites and Monuments Record, The Highland Council

Archive, The National Monuments Record, any locally held private archives,

Aerial Photographic coverage

2.   The desk- based assessment must make full use of all of the resources held in

these repositories.

3.   A walkover survey will be made of the area in question, to enable identification of

any upstanding remains, from any period, including modem.  All individual

features to be recorded on a 1:2500 plan.

4.   No excavation is to take place as part of this work.

6.     Monitoring

I.         The  Senior Archaeologist will  normally monitor  fieldwork to  ensure  that

briefs are met.

II.        
Monitoring  will  normally be  by  unannounced  site  visit.    Alternative  or

additional monitoring arrangements may be made in individual cases.

III.     
Prior  notice  of fieldwork  starting  dates,  with  contact  names  and  local

addresses, telephone numbers and directions and other arrangements for access

must be given to the Senior Archaeologist.

7.    Reporting

7.1. Project report

At least three copies of the project report must be produced.

I.         
One paper copy for NOSWA.

II.       
One paper copy for the Archaeology Unit, Planning and Development Service,

Council Offices, Glenurquhart Road, Inverness IV3 5NX where it will be

available for immediate consultation by the public.

III.       One copy for the Highland SMR as above, on a computer disk in a format

compatible with Microsoft Office 95 for Windows.

The report must be submitted to the all of the above within 2 weeks of the completion of the field work.

7.1. Project report (Contd.)

The report must include, as a minimum,

1.   Location plan showing the project area and archaeological sites and features

affected. The Grid Reference of the site must be included.

2.   Circumstances and objectives of this work, including a copy of this brief.

3.   Weather and other conditions affecting fieldwork

4.   Scale plans, and photographs of archaeological features noted

5.   A full index to any records or other material generated by the project including its

location

6.   An analysis of the project results drawing in comparative data as appropriate, and

a statement of the significance of the results for future research.  Note that a

negative result may itself be significant.

7.   The report must propose appropriate arrangements for the safeguarding where

possible or recording where necessary of any objects or features identified by this

evaluation.

8.   A set of colour slides illustrating the project progress from start to completion.

The completed report will be available for immediate public consultation for research

purposes at the Highland Sites and Monuments Record. In addition, the Archaeology

Unit reserves the right to make the report available for reference and research

purposes, either on paper, or electronically.  Subject to this, copyright will remain

with the author unless specifically transferred in writing, and the Archaeology Unit

will assume author's copyright unless advised otherwise.   Copyright will be

acknowledged in all cases by the Archaeology Unit.

This specification includes arranging a presentation of the project results to the local

community within a year of the completion of the fieldwork. Arrangements must be

agreed with the Senior Archaeologist.

7.3. Discovery and Excavation in Scotland
A brief summary of the results must be sent to the Council for Scottish Archaeology

for inclusion in Discovery and Excavation in Scotland.  The cost of this must be

included in any tender document.

8.     General

1.   The archaeologist appointed must be of a professional standing acceptable to the

Senior Archaeologist and must carry out the work according to the Code of

Conduct, standards and guidelines of the Institute of Field Archaeologists.

2.   The  main  contractor has  responsibility  for  the  Health  and  Safety  of any

archaeological staff on site.

3.   The archaeologist is responsible for taking all necessary measures to conform with

the Health and Safety at Work Acts and be covered by all necessary insurances.

4.   Any Health and Safety incidents on site involving the archaeologist must be

immediately notified to the Health and Safety Executive.

5.   The archaeologist must agree a timetable for the work with the client and the

Senior Archaeologist.

6.   The archaeologist appointed will not comment to the press or other media without

prior approval from the Senior Archaeologist.

7.   Proper provision must be made for prevailing weather conditions in northern

Scotland.

8.   The  archaeologist  agrees  by  undertaking  this  work  to  the  terms  of this

specification.

Dorothy Low

Archaeologist

Monday, 6 March 2000
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